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Zamperini Residence, 
Los Angeles, CA 

 

 Introduction 
 

 The Louis Zamperini residence was built in 1922 for the wife of oil tycoon 
Thomas A. O’Donnell. While it is unknown if she ever resided in the home, she 
commissioned well known contractor Sanson M. Cooper, with his architect Robert D. 
Jones, to design and build the house. Over the course of the next ninety-two years the 
home has had only four owners, two of whom owned the property for a combined 
eighty-eight years.  
 
 

Architectural History 
 
Robert Jones designed Lillie O’Donnell’s house in the Tudor Revival style, 

popular from the 1890s to the 1940s. Despite its name, the style rarely draws from 
sixteenth century Tudor England but rather from a variety of Medieval and early 
Renaissance English building traditions ranging from faux thatch-roof cottages to grand 
manors. While half timbering and masonry are often the hallmarks of Tudor Revival, 
solid stucco exteriors grew in popularity among those who desired a more modern 
English-inspired home. The O’Donnell house is an amalgamation of three Tudor Revival 
subtypes: symmetrical paired gables (the clipped gables of the south façade), faux 
thatched roofs, and overlapping gables (entry façade). The first two of these are among 
the least common attributes of the style. Jones, in an unusual twist, designed the south 
elevation with two symmetrical clipped gables that project through a larger hipped roof 
rather than outward from the façade and another cross gable roof. The 
contemporaneous Craftsman style appears, however minimally, in the form of square 
rafters extending out from the gables. Faux thatched roofs, suggested by rounded 
edges, evoke the picturesque cottages of rural England executed with then modern 
materials such composition roofing rolled or wood shingles steamed around eaves and 
rakes (sloped ends of a roof), mimicking a thick layer of thatch. O’Donnell’s roof was 
originally finished with cedar shingles. The most common attribute of the three present 
subtypes is that of the entry porch gable overlapping the larger clipped gable behind.  
 
 

Early History and Historical Context: Hollyridge Park  
 

Hollyridge Park lies within the former “Public Lands” of the Spanish and Mexican 
rancho era. As part of the public lands, the Hollyridge Park tract was not previously part 
of a rancho land grant. (See Figure 1, 24) It is, however, located a little west of the 
former El Rancho Nuestra Señora de Refugio de Los Feliz (“The Ranch of Our Lady of 
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Refuge of the Feliz Family”).1 In about 1794 Spanish Governor Pedro Fages granted the 
Rancho (6,647 acres) to Corp. José Vicente Feliz in appreciation of his services to 
Spain during the Anza Expedition of 1776 and for serving as comisionado (mayor, 1781-
1786) of Pueblo de Los Angeles. The Rancho’s western boundary ran along present 
day Western Avenue northward through Griffith Park to Highway 134. Over the course 
of the next one hundred years many changes in ownership occurred, with numerous 
portions sold off. The northern part of the Rancho is famously remembered for its 
association with industrialist Griffith J. Griffith (1850-1919). In 1882 Griffith purchased 
4,071 acres of the original 6,647-acre Rancho. On December 16, 1896 Griffith donated 
the northern 3,015 acres for use as a municipal park. The remaining 1,056 acres were 
gradually subdivided and sold for profit. However, Griffith was not alone in shaping the 
area. 

 
A year after Griffith’s purchase (1882), real estate developer Harvey Wilcox and 

his wife Daeida arrived in Los Angeles. Within three years Mr. Wilcox had amassed 120 
acres at the mouth of Cahuenga Pass. The area was then home to a small farming 
community in what was known as Cahuenga Valley. The story goes that on a train trip 
back from her native Ohio, Daeida met a woman who spoke fondly of her Illinois 
summer home named “Hollywood.” Daeida was sufficiently taken with the name that 
she insisted her husband used it for their 120-acre subdivision. On February 1, 1887 Mr. 
Wilcox submitted a map of his “Hollywood” subdivision to the Los Angeles County 
recorder and Hollywood, California was born. A year later the Los Angeles Herald 
announced that Wilcox’ petition of proposed street platting had been granted by the 
Board of Supervisors. With that Mr. Wilcox soon advertised the sale of parcels within 
Hollywood, emphasizing that he would stake his reputation on Hollywood being the 
finest spot for a home. So much so that he made it his permanent home. Over the 
remaining years of the nineteenth century the name Hollywood grew in prominence. 
(See Figures 2-4, Page 25) 

 
 On November 14, 1903, some sixteen years after Wilcox’ initial subdivision was 

marketed, the residents of Hollywood and the surrounding unincorporated area voted 
88-77 in favor of incorporating as the City of Hollywood. The municipality’s boundaries 
were Normandie Avenue on the East, Fairfax Avenue on the west, Fountain Avenue on 
the south, and the crest of the Santa Monica Mountains on the north. (See Figure 5, 
Page 26) The city of 1,100 residents and four square miles reportedly sought progress 
in the form of better roads and schools, as well as to prohibit the sale of alcohol. In 1904 

                                                
 1 The Rancho was located immediately north of the Pueblo. Today the Rancho would be 
bordered on the east by the Los Angeles River, on the west by Western Avenue continued north through 
Griffith Park, on the north by highway 134, and on the south by Fountain Avenue continued east to the 
River. 



 

Nicholas Cohems 2  acquired 26.67 hilly unimproved acres within the northern border of 
Hollywood. Adjacent development was not far off. On February 2, 1906 the southerly 
adjoining Hollywood Pineapple Tract was recorded as thirty-four lots situated along 
Tamarind Avenue between Franklin Avenue and Chula Vista Way. Four years later, on 
January 29, 1910, land immediately opposite Hollyridge Drive was recorded as 
Fleischer Tract. Development had already begun to the southeast in the form of seven 
tracts situated north of Franklin Avenue between Canyon Drive and St. Andrews Place. 
The area, known as Hollywood Grove, was designated an Historic Preservation Overlay 
Zone on May 4, 2011 in recognition that its Craftsman and Colonial Revival bungalows 
from the turn of the twentieth century, “stand out as a strong indication of what a typical 
residential subdivision once looked like in the Hollywood community.”3 

 
On February 7, 1910 further change came to Hollywood when its citizens voted 

to become the eleventh addition to the City of Los Angeles. The City consolidated the 
Hollywood Annex consisting of 4.45 square miles. Roughly ten years later Mr. Cohems 
sold his undeveloped property to pioneer oil producer Louis McCray. Born in Corry, 
Pennsylvania, Louis Allen McCray (1867-1944) grew up amongst oil fields in New York. 
(See Figures 6-9, Pages 27-29) In 1886 during a slump in the industry Louis’ father 
Absolom took his three sons (Morris, Edward, and Louis) west to Ventura County. At the 
time the California oil business was in its infancy with only three oil companies in the 
entire state. In 1900 he married Mary Branson in Ventura. After ten years with Union Oil 
Company, Louis and his older brother Morris moved to Los Angeles. Oil had been 
discovered. The two soon formed a partnership in the well contracting business. In time 
they recognized the future was in developing oil property and they began to acquire 
their own land. With fifty-three wells Louis and Morris became the largest oil producing 
organization in Los Angeles. Soon bigger oil discoveries were made in other parts of the 
state. Following these discoveries the brothers found greater profit in leasing and 
developing oil fields within these new regions. Louis eventually formed several other 
partnerships. One with fellow oil pioneer Thomas A. O’Donnell (more on him to come) 
was known as O’Donnell & McCray (oil producers) and another was with O’Donnell and 
Edward L. Doheny as the American Petroleum Company. In 1911 Louis retired from 
active management of this and other oil concerns. He chose to turn his attention to 
building a home in the Hollywood foothills. Louis McCray’s dream home was a grand 
Swiss Chalet Craftsman. The estate was situated above Foothill Drive immediately east 

                                                
 2 Research to date has not revealed Nicholas Cohems’ identity. Complicating matters, a 
discrepancy exists in the spelling of his surname. The Los Angeles County Assessor recorded 
Nicholas “Cochens” owning eventual Hollyridge Park in 1904, whereas the 1906 Hollywood 
Pineapple Tract map references him as Nicholas “Cohems.” Neither contemporary newspaper 
articles nor city directories have confirmed his name and identity.  
 3 Office of Historic Resources, City of Los Angeles. 
http://preservation.lacity.org/hpoz/la/hollywood-grove 
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of the eventual Hollyridge Park.4 McCray’s former home would come to have a strong 
association with the Zamperini home.  

 
Several years later in about 1920 McCray acquired the undeveloped Hollyridge 

acreage through the Security Trust & Savings Bank. In April 1921 the 26.67 acres were 
surveyed and platted as Tract #4166. (See Figures 10-14, Pages 30-34) The result was 
seventy-eight irregularly shaped parcels on 26.095 acres (after designation of streets 
and rights-of-way). John R. Heflin, whose on-site office was located at 2015 N. Bronson,  
marketed Tract #4166 as Hollyridge Park. The first Los Angeles Times advertisement 
from May 1, 1921 boasted of the multitude of lot terrains including “level, sloping, 
hillsides, hilltops, ridges, canyons, and elevated lots.”5 Heflin proclaimed that parcels  
were carefully planned to afford all with a driveway of easy grade. Prices ranged from 
$800 for a large canyon lot in the northwest corner to $25,000 for one of two hilltop sites 
with views. Most parcels were initially advertised for between $1,500 and $4,500.   

 
Several lots were developed almost immediately. Among these was O’Donnell’s 

property and several in the southeast corner along Foothill Drive and N. Bronson 
Avenue. Perhaps the most notable of the earliest houses was that of Louis McCray’s 
older brother, and fellow oil producer, Edward I. McCray (1864-1930). Located in the 
circle at the entrance to Hollyridge Drive (#2151), Edward lavished a then estimated 
$30,000 on his eleven-room Spanish Revival home. Only a few years later two more 
grand Spanish Revival houses were commissioned. In 1926 actor Lou Tellegen built 
Casa Romano at 2230 Hollyridge Drive (so named for his actress wife Nina Romano) 
for $25,000. Julius Leventhal soon joined Tellegen by building his home next door 
(#2212). Leventhal’s house also cost an estimated $25,000. Sadly, in 1927 both men 
auctioned off their homes’ entire contents, presumably to cover financial losses. (See 
Figures 15-16, Pages 35-36) While Tellegen and Leventhal may have experienced 
financial hardships, the 1920s saw significant growth in Hollywood.  

 
Hollyridge Park was soon rivaled by a new development. In April 1923 Tract 

#6450, or as it is more commonly known Hollywoodland, was surveyed and officially 
recorded on May 15, 1923. (See Figures 17-19, Pages 37-38) Developers Tracy  

 

                                                
 4 An earlier house built by McCray was destroyed by arson on July 11, 1907. The house was 
located in Hollywood on Harold Way near Lemona Avenue.  
 5 Display ad for Hollyridge Park. Los Angeles Times. May 1, 1921.  



 

Aerial View of Hollyridge Park and McCray estate, 1922.  
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E.Shoults and Sidney H. Woodruff, who marketed the subdivision, decided a large sign 
was required to draw attention to their new development. They soon commissioned 
Crescent Sign Company to build the “HOLLYWOODLAND” sign out of individual letters 
50 feet tall, by 30 feet wide. The sign was illuminated with some 4,000 light bulbs that 
would light sequentially as “HOLLY,” “WOOD,” and “LAND” before lighting all at once. 
Though it was intended to be a short-lived marketing gimmick, the sign rapidly became 
an admired feature. In 1949 the Hollywood Chamber of Commerce contracted with the 
City of Los Angeles to maintain the sign and stipulated that “LAND” be removed to 
reflect Hollywood as a whole. The iconic sign was reborn.  

 
Early Hollywood was not simply a community of single-family homes. In the mid 

1920s Franklin Avenue saw significant growth. In 1926 Villa Carlotta was built 
immediately south at 5949 Franklin Boulevard (Los Angeles Historic Cultural Monument 
#329). Advertisements boasted of its abundant innovative technology and apartments 
with large rooms and high ceilings. Two years later two adjacent apartment hotels were 
built: Villa Favorita (5870 Franklin Avenue, in 1928) and the better-known and ultra 
luxurious Chateau Elysée (5930 Franklin Avenue, in 1928, HCM #329). Simultaneous to 
the early development of Franklin Avenue and Hollyridge Park, Hollywood’s theatre 
district of various international architectural themes was rapidly developing. Showman 
Sid Grauman, in partnership with Charles Toberman, opened Grauman’s Egyptian 
Theatre in 1922 (6706 Hollywood Boulevard, by Meyer & Holler, HCM #584). Four years 
later they capitalized on the Egyptian’s success by developing Grauman’s Chinese 
Theatre (6925 Hollywood Boulevard, by Meyer & Holler, HCM #55). That same year 
Tobermin opened the El Capitan Theatre (6838 Hollywood Boulevard, by Morgan, Walls 
& Clements, HCM #495). While Hollywood’s theater district was clearly up and coming, 
its residential districts in the hills were rapidly becoming the new home to many families.  

 
 
Owner History 
 
As recorded by the Los Angeles County Assessor, Mrs. Lillie O’Donnell was the 

earliest owner of Lot 39, within Tract #4166. While the exact date of purchase is 
unknown, she would have had to acquire the parcel after the tract was subdivided in 
early 1921.   

 
 On February 16, 1922 Lillie Woods O’Donnell was issued two City of Los 
Angeles building permits (#5201 and #5202) for a dwelling and detached garage to cost 
an estimated combined $13,000. (See Figures 20-22, Page 39) The listed architect was 
Robert D. Jones, designer for contractor Sanson M. Cooper. Lillie O’Donnell was born in 
San Francisco on March 8, 1875. At age 21 she married Pennsylvania-born Thomas A. 
O’Donnell (1870-1945). The couple was married in Los Angeles on August 28, 1896. 



 

Mr. O’Donnell left his native home in 1889 to work with Union Oil Company in Ventura 
County. Louis McCray, Hollyridge Park’s developer, joined Union only three years 
earlier. O’Donnell left for Los Angeles in 1893 and in 1909 joined Edward Doheny and 
McCray in organizing the American Petroleum Company. The O’Donnell’s marriage 
ended unhappily on charges of desertion. It was reported Mr. O’Donnell left his wife in 
1916 without reason. On November 26, 1924 Mrs. O’Donnell divorced her husband.  
She was awarded $750,000 in cash and property generating $50,000 annual income. 
Though Mr. O’Donnell was president of the American Petroleum Institute at the time, he 
is likely best known as the founder, namesake, and long time owner of the O’Donnell 
Golf Club in Palm Springs. While it is unknown if Lillie ever resided in the Hollyridge 
home, the original 1922 building permits for the residence listed her home address as 
1620 N. Kingsley Drive (demolished). In 1920 Mr. O’Donnell was recoded living at 731 
Serrano Avenue. Regardless, in 1923 Lillie sold the property to Sherman and Elaine 
Pruitt. Nothing is known of the couple beyond that Mr. Pruitt was a salesman of an 
unknown nature. It is believed by the grandniece of the next owners that the Pruitts 
added the enclosed porch off the kitchen. After only a few years in the home Mr. and 
Mrs. Pruitt sold the property in 1927 to Ernest Smith.  
 
 Born in rural Kansas on November 8, 1883, Earnest R. Smith (1883-1961) began 
life as a wheat farmer. (See Figures 23-26, Page 40) In 1908 he married fellow Kansan 
Edith Cheesman (1886-1961) and two years later the couple had their only child George 
Childen Smith (1910-1984). The family resided in Greensburg, Kansas for many years 
before Ernest sought prosperity in Los Angeles. In approximately 1919 the Smith family 
moved and Earnest soon opened a garage and car dealership, named Mt. Olive 
Garage, at 1728 N. Cahuenga Boulevard. Ernest encouraged his wife’s nephews to 
move out to Los Angeles and he gave them a start in the garage. Ern, as he was known 
among his family, was also involved in movies. During the silent film era he backed a 
then little known actor and director Irving Cummings (1888-1959). Among the projects 
he sponsored was a series of silent films about Canadian mounted police. Ern’s nephew 
Edward H. Cheesman acted in a few. Edward’s younger brother Ted also went into 
movies and became an editor working on films such as King Kong (1933) and Mighty 
Joe Young (1949). Movies and car dealerships were not meant to be for Ernest and he 
eventually became a real estate broker and appraiser. In September 1933 Los Angeles 
Mayor Frank L. Shaw nominated him for the City Planning Commission. He was soon 
confirmed and rose to become president. In later life Ernest developed dementia. 
Consequently, after thirty years in the home George Smith encouraged his parents to 
sell the property and move to an apartment. On June 10, 1957 the Smith’s sold the 
Hollyridge home to Louis and Cynthia Zamperini.  
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Edith and Ernest Smith with their son George on the garden 
steps at Hollyridge, c.1927.  



 

 Louis Silvie ”Louie” Zamperini was born on January 26, 1917, in Olean, New 
York, the second of four children of Louise and Anthony Zamperini.6 Italian immigrants 
from Verona, the Zamperini family moved to Torrance in 1919 in search of a better life. 
They succeeded. (See Figures 27-43, Pages 41-57) Early childhood for Lou entailed 
being bullied for his limited English and spending time smoking, drinking, and 
committing petty crimes. Life changed for Louie when in early 1933 his older brother 
Pete, a runner, encouraged him to follow a path of self-improvement through running. 
Louie had already demonstrated a remarkable ability to outrun both bullies and police. 
Success came fast when in 1934 he set the first of many records. That year Louie set 
the interscholastic record for the mile with a time of 4 minutes, 21.3 seconds. Two 
weeks later at the California Interscholastic Federation State Meet he ran the mile in 4 
minutes, 27.8 seconds, helping him win a scholarship to University of Southern 
California. Continuing to shave significant time, the summer of 1936 would be 
momentous with his eyes set on the Berlin Olympics.  
 
 Family and neighbors collected money to send Lou to New York for the American 
Olympic team tryouts. Louie decided the slate for the mile (1,500 meter) was too 
stacked with the likes of eventual silver medalist Glenn Cunningham, Archie San 
Romani, and Gene Venzki. Instead, he opted for the 5,000 meter and tied with record 
holder Don Lash. Louie was only 19 years old and to this day remains the youngest 
American Olympic qualifier in the 5,000-meter. Soon, Louie and the American Olympic 
team were off to Berlin aboard the S.S. Manhattan. On August 7th he finished 8th in the 
5,000 meter, running the final lap in 56 seconds. He drew the attention of Adolph Hitler. 
Requested to make an appearance, Louie shook Hitler’s hand and was acknowledged 
as the “boy with the fast finish.” That fall Louie started at the University of Southern 
California and continued to improve his performance. Setting his eyes on the 1940 
Olympics, Louie trained hard and in 1938 he set the N.C.A.A. mile record with a time of 
4:08.3. The record held for fifteen years and earned him the nickname “Torrance 
Tornado.” Unfortunately, Louie would not make it to a sub-4 minute mile at the 1940 
Olympics in Tokyo.  
 
 With the outbreak of World War II on September 1, 1939 life changed. Louie 
enlisted in the Army Air Corpse in September 1941, three months before the Japanese 
attacked Pearl Harbor. Louie was training as a bombardier at Ellington Field in Houston, 
Texas when the announcement was made. Between his two autobiographies titled Devil 
at My Heels (1956 and 2003), Laura Hillenbrand’s 2010 biography Unbroken, and 
Angelina Jolie’s 2014 feature film of the same title, Louie Zamperini’s legendary tale of 
bravery and heroism is well documented. Louie’s first brush with death 

                                                
 6 The Zamperini offspring were Pete (1915-2008), Louis (1917-2014), Sylvia (1918-2008), and 
Virginia (1923-2008). 
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Pete and Louis, 1934.                        Louis in starting position in Torrance, 1934.  



 

came in April 1943 on a bombing mission to Nauru Island. With heavy Japanese 
resistance their B-24 Liberator Super Man suffered 594 holes and lost flaps, hydraulics, 
breaks, and one rudder. Despite this the crew and plane flew five hours before crash 
landing on Funafuti. Six of the crewmembers were seriously injured. A month later Louie 
and his fellow crew were sent in search of a B-25 downed 200 miles northwest of 
Palmyra Atoll. Sent out on the lemon of the fleet, Green Hornet, the crew’s plane 
crashed some 800 miles south of Hawaii. Lt. Louis Zamperini, pilot Lt. Russell Philips, 
and Sgt. Frances McNamara were the sole survivors. As Lou’s story goes, he and Lt. 
Phillips endured forty-seven days in a life raft before being picked up by a Japanese 
patrol boat. The next two years saw Louie transferred between various POW prison 
camps, at which he suffered extreme physical and mental abuse by his captors. The 
abuse was never worse than under the infamous Sgt. Mutsuhiro “The Bird” Watanabe. 
A year after his disappearance Louis Zamperini was officially declared dead on May 28, 
1944. This was followed in November by his sole appearance on Radio Tokyo. Louie 
was alive! Zamperini was finally freed when the Allies liberated his POW camp on 
September 5, 1945. With the end of World War II Louie soon returned home and 
attempted to fight his demons while resuming normal life.  
 
 The first big milestone post-WWII came on May 25, 1946 when Louie married his 
wife of fifty-five years, Cynthia Applewhite. Alcoholism and nightmares plagued the 
young couple’s marriage until Cynthia insisted they attend the workshop of Christian 
minister Billy Graham. Reluctance soon gave way to epiphany and Louie was 
transformed. Devotion to God, forgiveness, and commitment toward fellow man defined 
much of Louie’s long life. Between a career in commercial real estate, founding and 
administering Victory Boys Camp, and innumerable inspirational speeches, Louie made 
his mark. In his personal life, Louie and Cynthia started their family in 1949 with the birth 
of their daughter Cynthia Lou “Cissy”, followed four years later in 1953 with son Louis 
Silvie “Luke.” At the time the Zamperinis resided at 4063 Camillia Avenue, in Studio 
City. With rising prosperity the family bought the Hollyridge Drive home and for the next 
fifty-eight years made it the center of family activity.  
 
 At home Louie was the constant handy man and homemaker. Cynthia was an 
avid artist who frequently exhibited at galleries around town. At home she was the 
favored storyteller. When the kids were a little older she began to take on jobs to fund 
solo trips around the world. Louie was the primary chef of the family. Meals were taken 
in the kitchen or out on the sun porch, which Louie enclosed in 1958 as his first solo 
improvement to the home. Over the years he undertook countless projects around the 
property including building and rebuilding the family jungle hut in the late 1950s and 
1980s, building the library and living room paneling in the 1970s (inspired by Luke’s stay 
in New York at the Gilded Age home of Russian royals), and reroofing in the 1970s.  
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Cynthia and Louis Zamperini on the garden steps at Hollyridge, early 1960s.  



 

The jungle hut began as a playhouse for Cynthia and Luke. With a thatched roof and 
sprinkler system the kids could use to “invoke a ‘topical rain’ whenever” they wished.7 In 
later years it was revived with a new shingle roof for grandson Clay to enjoy. In the 
1980’s the garden wall and gate went up and the name Cool Spring  bestowed in honor 
of Cynthia’s family’s ancestral homes in North Carolina. There was seemingly always a 
project for Louie. Over many years he dug out paths from the home’s crawl space. He 
undertook the projects alone and utilized both the access to the foundations and 
additional storage. In late 1998 Louie added the wood steps from the back yard up to 
the jungle hut. While not done personally by Louie, in 2013 the front stairs to the 
driveway and the garage were rebuilt. A do-it-yourselfer at heart, Louie enjoyed the 
company of the contractors and participated in spirit. Despite the numerous projects, life 
at home was not all work for Louie.  
 
 A gifted practical joker, Louie once surprised his family, who were watching TV, 
by streaking them while wearing nothing but a sumo wrestler mawashi. Daughter 
Cynthia remembers “Christmas dinner was done completely by Louie. He would begin 
shelling his chestnuts two days prior for his wonderful chestnut dressing. The day before 
he would bake from scratch two pumpkin pies. On Christmas day we had a Waldorf 
salad, roast turkey with chestnut dressing, candied sweet potatoes, string beans with 
almonds, and pumpkin pie.” After dinner Louie would sneak off and reappear dressed 
as Santa Claus. In more recent years Louie especially enjoyed the connection his home 
had to one built down the hill a century before. Louis McCray’s former residence 
eventually became the home of Brad Pitt and Unbroken producer and director Angelina 
Jolie. While Louie’s wife Cynthia had quietly admired her attractive neighbor Brad, it was 
years later in 2012 that Angelina and Brad learned of their proximity to Louie. It was with 
an impromptu lunch invitation to meet Louie at his home when the couple, after some 
orienting, discovered that Louie could see their home. Eventually Angelina gifted 
binoculars to Louie and a lasting bond of friendship was formed.  
  
 

Public Record  
 
1922: Original Construction 
On February 16, 1922 the City of Los Angeles issued Mrs. Lillie O’Donnell two building 
permits. The first, #5201, was for the residence and the second, #5202, was for the 
detached garage. The dwelling would be one story with a cedar shingle roof and have a 
maximum height of 20 feet. The home would measure 45 feet, 2 inches by 77 feet, 10 
inches. No exterior wall material was listed, nor was there a specified question on the 
application. The dwelling permit also indicated the residence would meet the State  
 
                                                
 7 Interview with Cynthia Garris, May 2015.  
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Aerial View, 1970s.  Louis Bruhnke Aerial Photographs.  



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Louis renovating the jungle hut for grandson Clay, 1980s.  

Louis as Santa Claus, 1980s.  
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Dwelling Act. Construction cost was estimated at $12,000. The one-story garage 
would measure 20 by 24 feet and have a total height of 12 feet, with a 
composition roof. Construction cost was estimated to be $1,000. Both permits 
listed R.D. Jones as the architect and S.M. Cooper as the contractor. As was 
standard on the permit applications of the period, no license numbers were 
required. (See Figures 44-46, Pages 58-60) 

 
2001:  Roof 
 Louie and Cynthia Zamperini were issued permit #01016-20000-20006 on 

November 17, 2001 to re-roof the residence. Specified work: “Tear off existing 
roof. Re-roof with ½” CDX plywood, apply 40yr composition shingles, class “A” 
material, aprox. 38SQS.” Five Star Roofing was the specified contractor. Work 
was valued at $19,000.   

  
Disclaimer: 
       The information in this report is based solely on a review of the public records. While the 
author has endeavored to provide an accurate summary of these records, the report may contain 
material inaccuracies or omissions. The report should not be relied upon as a diligence report on 
the condition of the property or proper permitting. 
 

 
Robert D. Jones 
(1878-1968) 
 
Architect 
 
Robert D. Jones was a Kentucky-born architect who spent most of his career in 

Los Angeles. While much of his story is lost to history, a few basic facts are known. 
Jones was born on March 31, 1878 in Kentucky, though his parents were natives of 
Ohio.  On October 1, 1902 he married Nettie Scott Brown in Newport, Kentucky.  

 
The 1910 U.S.F.C. provides the earliest known record of Robert’s life. At the time 

he resided in Cincinnati with his wife and in-laws. He worked as a self-employed 
architect. While his later employer Sanson M. Cooper also resided in Cincinnati, 
research to date reveals no relation between the two prior to Los Angeles in 1921. The 
previous year in April 1920 the U.S.F.C. recorded Jones had moved to Glendale, 
California, where he worked as an architect for a building company. He owned his home 
at 322 E. Dryden Street. In the 1921 Los Angeles City Directory he was listed as a 
draftsman in the employ of S.M. Cooper. Jones is known to have worked for Cooper 
though at least 1929. In 1932 the Directory listed Jones employed with Meyer & Jones, 
presumably as a partner. Research to date has not revealed any information about the 



 

firm. Both the 1930 and 1940 U.S. Federal Censuses listed Jones as a contractor 
working on his own account. Little is known of Jones’ professional life outside of his 
decade with Sanson Cooper. During that period he is presently known to have designed 
at least six residences. Of these known commissions, the Tudor Revival style appears 
to have been his most sought after. That said, given the popularity of numerous revival 
styles in the early twentieth century, Jones was probably fluent in a wide range of 
historical influences. Nothing is known of Jones career after 1932. He remained in his 
Dryden Street home through 1948 and died twenty years later in Fresno. He and his 
wife Nettie are buried in Glendale’s Grandview Memorial Park. The couple had one 
daughter Martha E. Jones (1910-1994). (See Figures 47-49, Pages 61-62) 

 
Known Commissions 

George L. Veatch Residence (1921) – West Adams, Los Angeles  
Residence (1922) – 719 N. Crescent Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1923) – 624 N. Roxbury Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1924) – 809 N. Bedford Drive, Beverly Hills 
Residence (1926) – 621 Walden Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1927) – 604 N. Elm Drive, Beverly Hills  
 
 
Sanson M. Cooper 
(1858-1935) 
 
Builder 
 
Sanson Milligan Cooper was born the second of eleven children to Lemuel Young 

and Ann (Greenlee) Cooper. The Cooper clan was raised in rural southwest 
Pennsylvania and in Newton, Ohio, where Lemuel worked as a farmer and teacher. 
While Sanson did not become a teacher per se, he did grow up to be a minister and 
remained active in the Christian church his entire life. Simultaneously he pursued a 
lucrative career as a real estate broker and residential builder. (See Figures 50-54, 
Pages 63-65) 

 
Sanson’s earliest known business venture was as a realtor and residential builder 

with his younger brother James. Together the two were partners in Cooper Brothers, 
based in Cincinnati. In 1893 their youngest sibling Myers joined his brothers as an 
employee. In 1896 Myers (23) was made a partner. The business reportedly remained 
in operation until about 1912 when the three brothers decided to part ways. That year 
Sanson moved to Los Angeles. Myers had already formed a side realty business, Myers 
Y. Cooper Company (still in operation). Myers went on to build some 7,000 houses in 
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the Cincinnati suburbs and served as the 51st governor of Ohio (1929-1931). Sanson’s 
own career took off after moving to Los Angeles.  

 
Within a year of moving to Los Angeles Sanson co-founded the partnership of 

Cooper, Pyle, and Clopine. Another real estate and residential building business, 
Cooper is said to have built hundreds houses across Los Angeles. However, he is best 
known for his residential commissions in Windsor Square, Beverly Hills, and San 
Marino. Typical of the period, Sanson built in various popular revival styles. His own 
Windsor Square house at 435 S. Lorraine Boulevard was built in 1917 as a grand Four 
Square with Italian Renaissance detailing and cost an estimated $14,000. While Cooper 
listed himself as the architect, contemporary building permits and newspaper records 
indicate that during the 1920s he employed both Robert D. Jones and Phil Brinckerhoff 
as in-house architects.  

 
Sanson Cooper married Ohio-native Ella D. Harvout on April 23, 1884. Together 

the couple had two daughters: Virginia (1886-1967) and Mildred (1887-1959). Sanson 
Milligan Cooper died on May 19, 1935.  

 
Known Commissions  

Apartment Building (1913) – 1932 8th Avenue 
Residence (1913) – 123 N. Oxford Boulevard  
Evans W. Mosher Residence (1914) – Kenmore Avenue  
Cooper Residence (1917) – 435 S. Lorraine Boulevard  
H.N. Keeler Residence (1918) – Fairfax Avenue  
Emma M. Harvout Residence (1918) – Angeles Mesa Drive  
F.A. Goodrich Residence (1919) – Irving Boulevard  
Harriet Dakin Residence (1919) – Serrano Avenue  
Louis A. McCray Residence (1919) – 2140 N. Canyon Drive  
S.C. Lentz Residence (1919) – Serrano Avenue 
A.L. Rudolph Residence (1919) – Ingraham Street 
George L. Veatch Residence (1921) – West Adams 
Residence (1922) – 719 N. Crescent Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1923) – 624 N. Roxbury Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1924) – 809 N. Bedford Drive, Beverly Hills  
Owen Hudgen Residence (1925) – Hill Drive 
Residence (1925) – 712 Whittier Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1926) – 720 N. Roxbury Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1926) – 621 Walden Drive, Beverly Hills  
Residence (1927) – 604 N. Elm Drive, Beverly Hills  
E.L. Brady Residence (1928) – San Marino  
MacKenzie Residence (1928) – San Marino   
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 Early History: Hollywood   

Figure 1: The Old Spanish and Mexican Ranchos of Los Angeles County, 1937. Hollyridge Park is 
located within the public lands just west of Rancho Los Feliz.  Source: Los Angeles Public Library. 
 



 

  

Figure 2: Harvey H. Wilcox, 
c.1860.  Source: Wikimedia Commons. 

Figure 3: L.A. Board of supervisors grants 
petition for Hollywood streets. Los Angeles 
Herald, February 8, 1888.  

Figure 4: Display Advertisement for Harvey 
Wilcox’s Hollywood subdivision. Los Angeles 
Herald, September 7, 1888.  
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Figure 5: Announcement of 
City of Hollywood vote. Los 
Angeles Herald, November 
15, 1903.  



 

 Early History: Louis McCray 
  

Figure 6: Biography of Louis A. McCray.   
Source: Press Reference Library: Notables of the West, 1915.  
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Figure 7: Louis McCray builds new home in Hollywood Hills. Los 
Angeles Times, May 7, 1911.  



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Figures 8 & 9: Photo and First Floor Plan of McCray residence. Architectural 
Record, October 1914.  
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  Early History: Hollyridge Park 

Figure 10: Original survey plat of Hollyridge Park as recorded for owner 
Security Trust & Savings Bank, May 21, 1921. 
Source: Los Angeles County Department of Public Works. 



 

  

Figure 11: Announcement of Hollyridge 
Park. Los Angeles Times, May 1, 1921.  
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Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Display Ad 276 -- No Title
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); May 1, 1921; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times
pg. V5

Figure 12: Display Advertisement for Hollyridge Park. Los 
Angeles Times, May 1, 1921.  



 

  

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Display Ad 288 -- No Title
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); Mar 26, 1922; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times
pg. V8

Figure 13: Display Advertisement for Hollyridge Park. Los Angeles Times, March 26, 
1922.  
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Figure 14: Aerial view of Hollyridge Park and McCray estate, August 1922.   
Source: Los Feliz Improvement Association.  



 

 
  
  

Figure 15: View of Edward I. McCray residence looking south down Bronson Avenue, c.1925.   
Source: Ancestry.com. 
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Figure 16: Auction of Edward I. McCray estate. Los Angeles 
Times, February 5, 1928.  



 

 Owner History: Hollywoodland   

Figure 17: Hollywoodland subdivision marketing piece, c.1923. 
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Figure 18: Display advertisement for 
Hollywoodland. Los Angeles Times, June 
10, 1923.  

Figure 19: Hollywoodland Sign on Mt. Lee, January 1923.   
Source: Los Feliz Improvement Association.   



 

 Owner History: Lillie Woods O’Donnell  

Figure 20: Building Announcement for 
O’Donnell property on Hollyridge Drive.  
Southwest Builder & Contractor, 
February 10, 1922.   

Figure 21: Lillie O’Donnell 
divorces her husband 
Thomas O’Donnell. Los 
Angeles Times,  
November 26, 1924.  

Figure 22: Obituary of Thomas A. O’Donnell.  
Los Angeles Times. February 22, 1945.  
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 Owner History: Ernest R. Smith & Family

Figure 23: Ernest and Edith Smith with their 
son George at Hollyridge home, c.1927.  
 © Vickie Cheesman.  

Figure 24: Ernest Smith is voted to 
Los Angeles Planning Commission. 
Los Angeles Times, September 13, 
1933.  

Figure 25: Death Notice of Edith Cheesman 
Smith. Los Angeles Times, March 1, 1961.  

Figure 26: Obituary of Ernest 
Smith. Los Angeles Times, 
August 31, 1961.  



 

 Owner History: Louis & Cynthia Zamperini 
  
 
  

 Source: All Zamperini images courtesy of Luke Zamperini and Cynthia Garris. All rights reserved.   

Figure 27: Zamperini Family, 1924. From left to right are Silvia, Anthony, Louis, 
Louise with Virginia, and Pete.  
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Figure 28: Louis sets a new interscholastic mile record, 1934.  



 

 
 
  

Figure 29: Louis and Don Lash training in New York before the 1936 summer Olympics.  
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Figure 30: Illustration boasting of Louis’ running prowess, fall 1938.  



 

  

Figure 31:  Louis sets the N.C.A.A. mile record with a time of 4:08.3, 1938. Publication unknown.  
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Figure 32: Recruitment promotional photo of Louis after his official enlistment, March, 19, 
1941.  



 

  

Figure 33: Damage to Super Man (B-24 Liberator) after bombing mission to Nauru Island, April 1943.  
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Figure 34: Louis and crew load the Green Hornet (B-24) before their last search mission north of Palmyra 
Atoll, May 27, 1943. Kualoa Airfield, Oahu, Hawaii. 
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Zamperini, Olympic Miler, Is Safe After Epic Survival: OUTRACES DEATH
By ROBERT TRUMBULL By Wireless to THE NEW YORK TIMES.
New York Times (1923-Current file); Sep 9, 1945; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: The New York Times
pg. 1

Figure 35: Robert Trumbull Interview 
published one day after Zamperini family 
was notified of Louis’ release. New York 
Times, September 6, 1945.  
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Figure 36 



 

  

Figure 37: Louis returns home at Long Beach Army Airport, October 6, 1945. Pictured here is Louis 
embraced by his mother Louise, father Anthony (hidden from view), his sisters Silvie and Virginia look on 
at left.  
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Figure 38: Wedding day, May 25, 1946.  
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The Thrill Gap
Zamperini, Louis
Los Angeles Times (1923-Current File); Aug 11, 1963; 
ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times
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Figure 39: “The Thrill Gap,” by Louis Zamperini, detailing his acceptance of God into 
his life and turning boys into men. Los Angeles Times, August 11, 1936.  
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Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner.  Further reproduction prohibited without permission.Figure 40: “The Thrill Gap.” – Continued.  



 

  

Figure 41: Louis rides his skateboard at First Presbyterian Church of Hollywood, 1980s. 
He skateboarded until the age of 81and skied until age 91.  
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Figure 42: Louis holding the 1998 Olympic torch in Nagano, Japan, January 1998.  



 

  

Figure 43: Zamperini family with Angelina Jolie, spring 2013. From left to right: Clay, Angelina, Mick 
Garris, Louis, Cynthia, Lisa Zamperini, and Luke.  
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 Public Record: Assessor’s Parcel Map 
  

Figure 44: Contemporary Los Angeles County Assessor’s map showing Lot 39, within Tract 4166.  
Source: Los Angeles County Assessor. 

 



 

 Public Record: Building Permits 
  

Figure 45: Original dwelling building permit, 1922.  
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Figure 46: Original garage building permit, 1922.  



 

 Robert D. Jones  
 
 Architect 
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New West Adams Residence.
Los Angeles Times (1886-1922); Jan 2, 1921; ProQuest Historical Newspapers: Los Angeles Times
pg. V2

Figure 47: Commission of Sanson M. Cooper and Robert D. Jones. Los Angeles Times, January 2, 
1921.  
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Figure 48: 624 N. Roxbury Drive, Beverly Hills, built 1923. Robert D. 
Jones, architect.  

Figure 49: 809 N. Bedford Drive, Beverly Hills, built 1924. Robert D. 
Jones, architect. 



 

 Sanson M. Cooper  
 
 Builder 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Figure 51: Cooper Residence. 435 S. Lorraine, Los Angeles, built 1917. Sanson M. 
Cooper, architect and builder.  

Figure 50: Building announcement for the Cooper residence, 
1917. Publication unknown.  
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Figure 52: Owen Hudgen residence, built 1925. Sanson M. Cooper, builder. Los Angeles Times, 
March 29, 1925.  

Figure 53: 712 Whittier Drive, Beverly Hills. Sanson M. Cooper, builder.  



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 54: Obituary of Sanson M. Cooper. Los 
Angeles Times, May 21, 1935.  


